MOUNT CARMEL

%,U/dc,z 7c /alez'({ﬂm—n. Acals

BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN MEETING AGENDA

July 24, 2025 - 5:30 P.M.
City Hall, 100 Main Street E.

1. Call to Order

2. Invocation

3. Pledge of Allegiance

4. Roll Call

5. Welcome from the Mayor

6. Approval and/or Correction of the minutes of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen Meeting dated June 26,
2025, monthly financial report, and department reports.

7. Visitors’ Comments:

8. OId Business:
NONE

9. New Business:
A. FIRST READING: Ordinance 25-542: Municipal Court Costs
B. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Wastewater Rate Study Contract with MTAS

10. Board Comments: Mayor, Vice-Mayor, Aldermen, Staff Comments: City Manager, Asst. City Manager,
City Attorney

11. Adjourn



MOUNT CARMEL

.9{/;/4”. Ze putidemsn docls

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL

BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN MEETING MINUTES

A regularly scheduled meeting of the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee Board of Mayor and Aldermen
was held at Town of Mount Carmel City Hall, 100 East Main Street, on June 26, 2025, at 5:30p.m.

CALL TO ORDER

5:30 pm by Mayor John Gibson

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Led by Vice-Mayor Bare and Alderman Binstock

ROLL CALL:

BMA

Present

Absent

City Administration Present

Alderman Darby Patrick

Jim Stables, City Manager

Alderman Philip Binstock

Allen Coup, City Attorney

Alderman James Cross

Tyler Williams, Asst. City Manager/CFO/Recorder

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

Mayor John Gibson

ANANANANANANAN

WELCOME FROM THE MAYOR

Mayor Gibson welcomed everyone

APPROVAL and/or correction of the May 22, 2025, Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting

minutes, departmental and financial reports.
Motion: Alderman Shugart
Second: Vice-Mayor Bare
Approved: Al present voting in favor

VISITOR COMMENTS
NONE




OLD BUSINESS

A. SECOND READING: Ordinance 25-541: Retail Package Store Licensing

Amendment to 8-302 to change wording to “Before any certificate, as required by Tennessee Code
Annotated, §57 3 208 shall be signed by the mayor, or a majority of the board of mayor and aldermen, a

request in writing shall be filed with the recorder, giving the following information...”

Motion: Vice-Mayor Bare
Second: Alderman Binstock

AYES

NAYS

OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

Mayor John Gibson

Abstain

Adopt Ordnance as written.

Motion: Alderman Binstock
Second: Alderman Gilliam

AYES

NAYS

OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

Mayor John Gibson

ANIANEANANENEN N

NEW BUSINESS

A. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-653: Personnel Policies and Procedures

Amendment to remove Juneteenth as a Town holiday and replace with a floating holiday.

Motion: Alderman Patrick
Second: Alderman Binstock




AYES NAYS OTHER
Alderman Darby Patrick v
Alderman Philip Binstock v
Alderman James Cross v
Alderman Mindy Shugart v
Alderman Jim Gilliam v
Vice-Mayor Jim Bare v
Mayor John Gibson v
Adopt Personnel Policies and Procedures as written.
Motion: Alderman Shugart
Second: Alderman Binstock
AYES NAYS OTHER
Alderman Darby Patrick v

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

ARSI

Mayor John Gibson

DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Commit Additional Funds to CDBG Ladder Truck Purchase
Grant

Motion: Alderman Binstock
Second: Vice-Mayor Bare

AYES NAYS OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

ANIANENENENE NN

Mayor John Gibson




. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Carter's Valley Fire Dept. Request for Turkey Shoots

Motion: Alderman Shugart
Second: Alderman Binstock

AYES NAYS OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

AN ANENE NN

Mayor John Gibson

. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Surplus ltems

Surplus up to 10 executive office chairs and 1 walk-thru metal detector on GovDeals
Motion: Alderman Shugart
Second: Alderman Binstock
Approved: Al present voting in favor

. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: K-9 Drug Enforcement Grant

Authorization to pursue a K-9 Drug Enforcement Grant through Jireh K9, excess costs
funded by Drug Fund

Motion: Alderman Gilliam
Second: Alderman Binstock

AYES NAYS OTHER
Alderman Darby Patrick v
Alderman Philip Binstock v
Alderman James Cross v
Aiderman Mindy Shugart v
Alderman Jim Gilliam v
Vice-Mayor Jim Bare v
Mayor John Gibson v




ADJOURN
Motion: Alderman Shugart at 6:01 P.M.
Second: Alderman Binstock
Approved: All present voting in favor

Approve:

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:

Tyler Williams, City Recorder



MOUNT CARMEL

9{/,&(’ b2 /;f-f:/z.mu 1ce s

FINANCIAL REPORT
TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TN
Month ending 06/30/2025
GENERAL FUND: BALANGE:
Checking Account (First Horizon) $1,497,979.04

LGIP Investment Account

$5,152,154.99

Capital Outlay Savings (First Horizon) $1,403,623.81
TOTAL: $8,053,757.84

DRUG FUND: BALANCE:
Drug Fund Checking (First Horizon) $14,576.16
Special Drug Fund (First Horizon) $1,038.95
TOTAL: $15,615.11

SEWER FUND: BALANCE:
Checking Account (First Horizon) $980,913.12
Savings/Bond Reserve 2014 (First Horizon) $105,851.59
Savings/Sewer Savings 2014 (First Horizon) $534,202.28
TOTAL: $1,620,966.99
GRAND TOTAL CASH ON HAND: $9,690,339.94

Current Savings Rate: 3.20%
Current LGIP Rate: 4.28%



%00°001 00°00S'T 000 000 00°00S'T suonnqrue) bnig 0025€
%EQ'6L 09'085'T (ov'614) 000 00°000'2 53S0 puy Sauld UNOD AUNo) 091S€
%00'00T 00'000°1 00°0 00°0 00°000'T saul4 paje@y bnig 0b1SE
%L£0'09 €£°910'ST (£9°£86'6) (s9ea) 00'000'S¢C JUSWISDI04UT paRdS 0J0Ud XAYPPy Trise
%S59°61 €7°€28'v2 (L£941'5T) (65'P20'r) 00°000°0§ S1S0D puy sauld unod AD OTTSE
%00°08 00°0% (o0om) 000 000§ SPDIAISS Jo4 sabIey) - [01U0) [ewiuy 0TS¢
%00"00T 00°008 000 000 00°008 394 uoned I3 \¥4373
%S1°99- (19'628'12) (19°628'pS) 000 00°000'€€E Penuo) Aemybiy s3eas 0TEPE
%19'081- (00'002'05) (00's66'22) 000 00°564'L¢C anuaAsy Juawiiedaq a1 0ZLE€
%000 00'0 (00000's) 000 00°000's suopeuo( Aleiqn 6T/EE
196png oN (00°000ST) (00°000°ST) 00°0 00°0 Auno) woy Juely TTLE€
%92'61- (820b5'T) (82°0v5'6) 000 0070008 spuny ealy Joedw [eads T65E€
%2801~ (82°064'9) (82'06%'99) (£5'7z9'91) 00°000°09 saxe| JO Nal Ul sualAed eal 165€€
196png oN (06'20v'2) (06'20¥'2) (8'v10) 000 uopeziulspoly uoiepodsuel | 855€€
%SL'ET S1°880°S (S8'116'T€E) (€€7902'¢) 00°000°2€ Xel auljosen djels 7S5€€
%89'ST G/°'¥80°ST (ST'ST6'VET) (6p'99¢°¢1) 00000091 SNUIARY PIY 199115 31BIS 165¢€
%Zb'SL Tees't (6L°L1%) 000 00°004'1 Xey Joog jels 0£SE€E
%0b"CT 11°695°08 (68'0€'695) (8£'1£2'09) 00°000'059 xe| s3es jels 0TSEE
%ST'TTT- (2T9vt'y) (z1°9t¥'s) 00°0 00°000"% 12-02Ad ALTIGVSIA IH OSHD 62HEE
%00"00T 00°000'002 00°0 00'0 00°000°002 AINVYD 2ddT 31VLS Xagx3
%Z£9°9T 00°008 (00'000%) 00°0 00°008"% Aed Juawa|ddns a3e35 0TbEE
%60°6- (00'6£8'T) (00°6€5'22) (52°8/8'T) 00'099'0¢ joenuo) [eisod T61EE
%95 T 78°€h/'66 (81'957'01T) (00'¥bL'SL) 00°000'0vC sjueln 33eas 06T€€
%00°00T 00'000°0ZF 000 00°0 00°'000°0Z sjueln Juswdofpasg Ajunwuwio) 0TTEE
%8.'85- (0b'p1T'Y) ((I22449) (09'085'1) 00'000'2 s)wIad bulpping 0792¢
%85'Eh 75'9050€ (8v"£60'6€) 00'0 00°000°0L Xe] asiyoueld Al 3|qed 61E
%96°2¢C 69'629'CT (1€'0£E'TH) (9v'526'€) 00°000'aS Xe| 1939 Bjessjoym 01Z1€
%0£'01 65 T£8'6L (T¥°891'569) (61'720'€9) 00°000'S4L xe| s3[es (2207 0191¢
%T9°LE Te9TET (89'€81°D) (89°£51) 00°005€ xe| doid UQ 3500 HNOD puy ‘IsaIsiu] 00€1€
%900t~ (66'c0'oT) (66'22095) (1€°660'9) 00°000°0F (sleaj Jond) saxe| Apedold 00z1€
%08'2- (90veb'ev) (90°¥2b'S5S T) (00'€84'T) 00°000°€1S'T {uaun) saxey Apadold 00TTE
pazijeayun % pazijeatun pazijeay @lA pozijeay AL pajewns3 [e3oL

%00°00T aaneledwo) Ajyjuop pun4 {e1susn : pund
t 4o T abed §20z dung

Wd T2t §202/L1/L :pwil /ejeq A1) - sanuaAay Jo Juswelels :Aq pjeasd
swiel|[Ip J9jAL osn [owe) JUNoW JO UMOoL S9NUaASY J0 JUswalels DO iawep ajejdway



%TT b1 TP 6£9'PE9 (85°s9b'£28'E) (LLv8Y'LLT) 00°S0T'29t'y OTIT :pundi.Jod [ejoL
196png oN (00°0004) (00°000%2) 000 000 [lEM [BHOWSIY SUBISIDA Suoleuoq S669€
%be'8- (8g's0T) (8€'80b'T) (ez’0p1) 00°00€'T BNUDASY SUONEIIUNLIWOI3RL 1669€
%I1S'6¢- (5£206'S) (5/°206'52) (16'0£€) 00'000°02 SBNUIARY SNOBUL|ISIIA 0669€
%S 064" (€9'119'/81T) (€9'119'C10) (SEVPL'YT) 00°000'sZ sBuiute 1sa193u1 0019€
pazijeayun % pazijealun pazijesy dLA pazijeay LW pajewnsy [ejoL

%00°007 eanesedwo) Ajyauoly pung [eJeusH  OTT : pund
b Jo g abed SZ0T dung

Wd T2 S20T/LT/L touny /ajeq A1) - sanuaAay Jo Juswajels 091 :Aq pajeas)
swelfIp JojAL LY |owae) JUNoK JO uMmal SONUIASY JO Juswaless D97 :awepN ajejdws]



%00°00T (00"zvs‘'y) (oo'zhs'y) 000 00'0 £ZT :pundJiod |ejoL
19bpng oN (00" zbs'y) (00°2vs'y) 000 000 suonnguuc) bniq 002ZS€
pazijeayun % pazieaiun pazijeay AlA pazijeay a1 pajewnsy jejol

%00°00T sAneledwo) Apjjuoly pund 6ruq £TT  :pung
¥ 40 ¢ sbed §20¢ dung

Wd T2:¥ S202/L1/L :owiL/ajeq A1) - senuaaay jo Juswalels 291 :Aq pajeas)
SWeljIM JOJAL HETT ] [ow.e) JUNoOl Jo UMmojl S9NUBARY JO Juswale)s N :awep ajejdwa)



%%98"C¥ SY'vLS'6€0'T (55°SS£'S8E'T) (9L 1Tb'2TIT) 00'0€E'STH'C TIt :pund 104 [ejoL
%EL'L88EE- (££'£88'¢€) (££'£86'¢€) 000 00°'00T Jamag - snoaue||z0sin 662LE
%00'9/- (00°095') (00'095°01) 00°0 00°0009 s394 de| Jomas 962L€
%9.'8L 05'286'0VT'T (0s'zrL'10€) 000 00'0££'8b1'T vduv S62/€
%bT 18- (S02€v'2) (S0°2€v'5) (s5'6€£') 00°000°€ $994 BunuNoXdY v62LE
%00°€E- (99'246'80) (99'2£6'¢66) (16'£1'90T) 00°000°596 sebiey) aD|AISS JoMBS oreLe
%20'79¢T- (19°055'1€) (19°050'p€) (0gL6b'E) 00°005C sbujueg 3sasaul 0019€
pazijeayun % pazijealun pazijeay QLA pozijeay ALW pajewns3 [ejoL

%00'00T aAneledwo) Ajjpuol pun Jamas ZIb :pund
1 40  obed STOZ ?ung

Wd 1T S202/LT/L 2wl /a1eq A31) - sanudAdY Jo JuswlRIS 291 :Aq pajeasd
swel|im 9IAL 1asn [ouLIe) JuUnoy Jo umoj SONUDSAY JO JUBWIIEIS DD aweN Ijejdwal



00°0 00'0 00°0 80J8WWOD JO Jaquuey) 0D sunmeH
00'0 %00°00T 000 0070052 (00'005'0) (00°005D) ves
000 00°0 00°0 uoneuo( SUSZRI) J0IUSS
00°0 %00°00T 00°0 00°000°€E (00'000°c€) (00°000°c€) XA
00'0 00'0 00'0 Aouaby s0inossy uewny N1 st
000 %00°00T 000 00°005'C (00°005'2) (0070052 w
000 000 (00'S21'vE) PLIsIqQ JuawdopAQ UL IS4
000 %95’y (00°06T'p£) 00°S€9'T (00'528'5€) (00700£'T) 0L
00°0 000 (00'005'6) sebaey) a0iAI9S Hueg
S0'pST'T %LL'E6 (62°665) 1£°020'6 (00°029'6) (00'0zT) 169
00°0 00°0 00°0 weibold Aysjes
00°0 %000 (00'005°2) 00°'0 (00°005'D) (00°005'2) 165
00°0 000 000 s150) [eslesddeay
000 %6658 (z9'092'D) 8€6€L'L (00°000°6) (00'000°6) 186
000 000 00'000'TT Soueunsut
00°0 %bT1'/9 (05'55b"LE) 0S'¥¥S'9L (00'000°41T) (00°000°521) 018
00°0 00°0 (00°000'12) sbuiping @dueusiulely puy lieday
000 %9066 (05°£6T) 057208'02 (00°000°12) 000 992
00°0 000 000 soAlRg Bulesulbug
000 %000 (00°000°'%) 000 (00"000'%) (00°000'%) T4
00°0 00'0 00°0 SIVIAISS UOHEIIUNLIWOD J3UI0 PUY auoydafal.
6EETh %6289 (ov'156) 09°8%0°C (00°000°€) (00'000°c) 524
00°0 00°0 000
85'605'2 %20°L8 (§2°9£€'D) S/'£99'GT (00'000'8T) (00°000°8T) 174
00°0 00°0 (00°000's) uoneRy ollgnd
$5°059 %1788 (£0'2£5°¢) £6'79v'9¢C (00"000°0€) (007000's7) 9€T
0070 000 00°0 ssng
00'0 %08'¢8 (00°889) 00'CIE'E (00°000"%) (00°000'%) SET
JUSWUIDA0Y) [BIBUD  (000TV
douesquinoug pasn % ajqejieay spungd s9dueIqUINDU] j1ob6png ejol sjusBlIpudWYy 12(q0 Jajua) »3(qo
/1eny [saimypuadxy [1e6png ewblIQ qns 150D
aln dlA

%00'00T :aAesedwo) Alyiuop OTT :pund
8T 4o T 9bed STOZ 2ung
Wd 02'v S20T/L1/L :aw /e3eq saduelquindug pue sainjipuadxy Jo Juswalels M1 :Aq pageas)
SWRI||IM 4JAL 13sn [uIe) JUNOK JO UMOL ainjipuadxg Jo JuaWeIs Do awep ajejdwa)



00°0 000 00°0 Buisnieapy
05'84¢ %T16°09 (oLes1'n) 0£228'T (00'000°€) (00°000°€) 152
00°0 000 (00°000'T) seng
00°0 %L1°8L (zs'9er) 8b°£95'T (00'000'2) (00*000'1) (144
00°0 000 000 SSOIAIRS GOM
00°0 %0070 (00°000'T) 000 (00°000'T) (00°000'T) 1T
00'0 00°0 000 SIAAIBS JPULBI]
$6°08T %€E6'28 (£8'v02) L1566 (00°002'T) (00°002'T) 912
00'0 00°0 000 JoAgI\ puy UBWISP}Y JO S99
89'999 %Lb"T6 (£8'€50'T) ET'9b6'CT (00°000°¥T) (00°000¥T) 191
000 00'0 (00'000'T) Buules] puy uonesnp3 svkoldw
00°0€9 %SL°S6 (00°58) 00°ST6'T (00°000'2) (007000'T) 8bT
00°0 00°0 (00'054) ddueInsu JuswAolduisun
€9'TT %8096 (96'8t) ¥0'102'T (00°052'T) (00°00%) b1
000 000 00°0 ueld Juawa139y 93A0|dws
98'85%'T %971°08§ (s0'6bt'ST) G606S'ST (00°000'7€) (00000°7€) €T
000 000 (00°000°02) Soueunsu] svkojdws
L67295'S %E9'E6 (bL'Tr1'y) 92°£58'09 (00°000'59) (00°000S) w1
00°0 000 000 (a1eys sgaholdwa) Ise
/68851 %85°6L (og'€80'y) 0£'916'ST (007000°02) (00°000°02) b1
000 000 000 sabem
60'8€€'7T %5086 (05°2£8') 0S'2721'SHT (00"000'052) (00°000°052) 121
uojjesisjulwpy |eppueuly  00STY
000 000 00°000'FT juswdinbg
65 T0V'TZ %0b£8 (¢£'65L'60) £T°092'90¢ (00°000°9€0) (00'000°052) ob6
000 000 (00°000°6£T) juels swoH
00'v2'sL %8T°00T 81'95C 81°'952'6ET (00°000°6€T) 000 062
000 00°0 00°0 AIWNIY
000 %00°SZ (0oo'00v) 00°002'1 (00°009'T) (00°009'1) 9zL
aoduelquinoug pesn % 3]qejieAy spung seouelqunoug jobpng |eiol sjuswpusWy 109(qo J9jua) Pelqo
/1enppy /seanyipuadxy /196png JeulbLio ans 350D
aLlnW ala
%00'00T :9Aiesedwo) AlUoR OIT : puny
8T Jo ¢ 3bed STOT dung
Wd 02% 5202/41/L sl /ajeq saoue.quindug pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juawajels 1 :Aq pajeald
Swiel|lIpm J9JAL HELT,) [oune) JUNo Jo UMmoL alnypuadxg Jo Juswailels D9 :aweN ajejdwal



000 000 000 uswdinbz Hoddns/eindwo) man
00'+0T %E6'9 (00'96£'T) 00'+0T (00°00s'T) (00005'T) 1¥6
000 000 00"005’€ juswdinbg
66'64S %b6'08T- (22'v0b'1) (2£v06) (00°00%) {00'000'%) 0b6
00°0 000 000 Ja1do) ssea Bupesado
1978 %6155 (¥172L9) 9828 (00"005'T) (00°005'T) 4§79
00°0 000 {00°000'6) Sno3ue|I0S|
€6'CE %0066 (vzroet) 9/'698'CT (00"000°€T) (00°000) 6L
00°0 000 000 saddns samog Asuld
000 %0572, (66'%09) 10°565'T (00"002'2) (00°002'2) [4%3
00°0 00°0 (00°005S) abeisod puy saljddns s210
78'892'C %S2'101 §0°691 50'699'€T (00°00S€T) (00°000'8) 01€
00°0 000 (00°006) 5384 UOISSiWWo)
L6'b0E %8b'66 (F1'ST) 98'%88'C (00'006'2) (00°000'0) 86¢
00°0 00'0 00°0 [oreLL
954§ %9€E°SL (€0'919) £6°€88'T (00"005'2) (00°005'7) 08¢
00'0 000 00°000°0% sBulpying aoueuSUIR puy Jledsy
S9'Tbe %88"€/ (b119'0) 97'88¢"/ (00°000°0T) (00000°05) 997
000 000 (00'0St) S2IAIRS Buluoz puy Buluueld
000 %00"00T 000 00'0Sb'ST (00"05t'ST) (00'000'sT) LST
000 00°0 000 poddng a1emyos/aiemple Jandwo)
£0'20C'L %b/'68 (¥0°58'S) 96'$19'05 (00'00t'95) (00°00%95) (174
00°0 000 (00°000'%2) sea4 Bunipny puy buunoady
0£'529'02 %LTT0T 06'Sb/ 06'SbL'b9 (00°000'%9) (00°000°0b) £
00°0 00°0 000 SRS |eba]
05'LTL %6E'S8 (00'€8¢"p) 00'£19'5C (00'000°0€) (00"000°0€) [4T4
00°0 000 000 SDIAISS [BIIPDYY
00'0 %0052 (00'0ST) 000§ (00°002) (00°002) 152
0070 00°0 00'0 abpnr Ao
00°00% %00°00T 00°0 00'008" (00°008't) (00°008'%) 05T
souesqunduy pasn % ajqejieAy spung sadoueIqUINOUl 3abpng |ejol sjusawpuawy elqo J93ua) »3(qo
/1en3oy [saamypuadxy /396png JeulblQ qns 150D
alw dlA

9007001 :9AeIedwo) AJUIUOK OTT :pund
8T 4o ¢ abed §T0Z dung
Wd 02t ST0T/LT/L iswlL/s3eq sedueiqunaug pue sainjipuadx] Jo Juswajels 91 :Aq pajeasd
SWe||IM J9JAL HELT)] [owe) Junopy Jo uMmoy aImpuadx3 Jo JUswWRIlels Do awep jejdwal



000 00°0 000 Hoddng aiemyos/aiemp.ey Jsindwo)
78°028'E %68°0T1 +8'2€9'T $8'2£9'91 (00°000'ST) (00'000°sT) 55T
00°0 00°0 (00°sP) SRDIAIBS |eDIP3Y
00001 %00"00T 00'0 00°SbS (00'sv9) (00"008) 152
00'0 000 000 SSDIAISS UOHEIIUNWIWOYD) J3YI0 puy auoydapL
€Y/6€'T %0¢'10T 68'TL 68'1£0'9 (00'000°9) (00'0009) _ N4
00'0 000 (00°002) seng
000 %SL'86 (0s2) 05'£6T (00°002) 0070 GET
00'0 000 00°0 wod3
00°0 %256 (§2°94) ST'ETE'T (00°001'T) (00°00t'T) 612
00°0 000 000 SSOIAIDG JDUII]
96'65T %868 (zz'oct) 8/°6/8 (00°000'T) (00"000'T) 91z
00°0 00'0 (00°000'1T) Buurey] puy uonednpy saholdws
88'+79'S %ET ZET 88'6/6'p 88'6/b'0C (00°005'ST) (00°005'%) 8yl
00'0 000 000 3ouelnsut JuswAojdwaupn
00°0 Y%9E L (1z'8z1) 6L'TLE (00'00%) (00"00S) yigs
000 000 000 uoljesuaduwio) 5,UsWNIOM
00°0 196png oN (00°9£v'2) (00'9e¥'D) 000 000 91
000 000 000 UBjd Juswaay 29ojdwy
8/'€76'T %70'8t (£8°6¥6'P0) £b"050°€2 (00"000°8t) (00°000°8t) 32!
000 000 000 aoueInsu] aaAojdw3
91'/9T'p %E8'TS (65°'5T9'5€) T+'b88'6€ (00°005'G2) (00°005°52) Wi
00'0 000 000 (31eys s4940[dw3) 1sEQ
01'S88'T %Z1°99 (£1'v91'01) £8'S£9'6T (00°000°0€) (00 000°0€) 12
000 000 (00°008'T) sebep awWIHaAQ
€159 %95°€6 (09¥8e'T) 0b'ST1'0¢C (00°005'12) (00"000°02) w
00°0 000 00°005'¥C sabem
08'629'vT %1168 (6b'925'9€) GS'€/6'86C (00'005'5€€) (00"000°09€) ¥4}
juswpedaq sdljlod  00TTh
aoueiquinoug pasn % dqejieAy spund sgouelquiniul 396png |ejol spusawWpuswy P3(qo JQUI) Pslqo
/lemdy /sainyipuadx3 [3e6png jeuibiLio qns 150D
aliW ala
9400001 :aAneledwo) Ajyuop OTT : pund
8T 40 t dbed §T0T aung
Wd 02+ S202/LT/L :awil /a3eq ssouelquinaug pue sainjyipuadx3 Jo Juswalels M1 :Aq pajeal)

swel(jim JIJAL

uesn

[owLIe) JUNOW JO UMO L

2injipuadxy Jo JusWeis Do awey a3ejdwal



00'0 000 (00°000'S)

T2-0C A INVID ALTIIFISIA IH OSHL

00'0 %/b'SL (0b'esy'D) 09'9¥5 2 (00'000°0T) (00°000°S) S0L
00°0 00°0 000 J31do) ssea bupessdo
9/'€9 %8E°9¢ (tv'eee'n) 65L2L (00"000'2) (00°000'0) S29
00°0 000 00°0 sabiey) Aejes Jo 1daq
£6'57S %SE'8T (1%'£59'p) 6578’1 (00°005'9) (00°005'9) 095
00°0 000 000 snoaue|jeos!iy
0b'SST %S8"10T 89/ 8972251 (007005'T) (00°005'T) 6Lt
000 000 000 asuadxy olpey
0070 %T0°S (95'vL2'b) 1 dT44 (00°005'%) (00'005Y) 9€€
00'0 000 000 asuadx3g [end
12'€98'¢ %6682 (06'102'Y) 01°864'ST (00"000'00) (00°00002) T€€
00°0 00°0 00°0 asuadxg bupessdo spPIYRA
6EETTD %98'2L (£1'98/'9) £8°€17'81 (00'000'52) (00'000'52) 0€e
00°'0 000 000 Sar1ddNnS 130113
000 %00°0 (00"008) 000 (00°008) (00'008) 62¢€
000 000 (00°005'T) suliofiun puy Buiyio)
68'LEY %L0'L6 (sT'191) S8'8€g’s (00°005°S) (00"000'%) 9z¢
0070 000 000 SIS9A J004d 39|INg
000 %S/L'€9 (00's22) 00'6/2'1 (00°000'0) (00°000'0) T4
00'0 00°0 (00'000°s) sa||ddng Bunessdo
LT'€ST %0126 (s8'682) ST'0TT'6 (00"000°0T) (00°000°%) o0ze
00°0 000 (0070s£'T) abejsod puy saifddns a0
9g'bIS %S5'56 (8z'112) TL'8ESY (00'054'%) (00'000°€) 01€
00'0 000 (00°0S£'T) jerelL
68'£8/ %90'0TT 95/ 95°/49' (00'052't) (00005'2) 082
000 000 000 sBulpjing sdueusjuiRly puy Jleday
00°0 %9626 (26's50'T) 80'tb6'ET (00"000°'sT) (00°000°sT) 997
00°0 00°0 (00°05€) SOIAIBS BUIMQ] /1SOBIM
00°0 %98'Ch (00°002) 00°05T (00"05€) 000 65T
souRIqWnOUl pasn % ajqejieAy spung saoueIquInOug jebpng [ejol sjuswWpudWYy P3lq0 19jud) 32[q0
/ienpy /saimypuadx3 /3ebpng jewibLIQ qns 350D
aln aiA

%00'007T raAeledwo) Ajyiuoly OTT : pung
8T Jo § abed ST0T sung
Wd 0Z:% §202/L1/L :2wiL/a1eq saduelqundou3 pue sainjpuadxy Jo Juswalels 291 iAq pajeasd
SWwIe)[|Ip J9JAL 113s Jowie) Junop Jo uMmoj alnypuadx3 Jo Juswlels D97 :awepN Sjejdwal



00°0 000 (00°000'T) [erel),
PEWRLT %98'TTT brLee veLee'e (000000 (00'000'T) 08¢
000 000 (00'000'T) sBuipjing SdUeUSUIRIY PUY Leday
PS'pET %05°66 (1£'910) 6C°€8/ 'ty (00'000'cw) (00°0002t) 992
00°0 00°0 (00'0s2'1) Hoddng a1emyog/alempiey ssndwo)
wveL's %96'G6 (15'1£1) 6v°8£0'p (00'052'%) (00°000°€) 174
000 000 000 SDIAISS [EDIPA
00'0 %00°0T (00°05t) 00°0§ (00°008) (00°005) 16T
000 000 000 S3DIAIRS UOIEIILNWIWIOYD JaYIQ puy suoydajal
SO'EET %S0°'T6 (£5'12) £v'82L (00°008) (00'008) 24
000 000 00'6£LC samaN
81116 %S6'bL (09'095'20) 0¥'099°2 (o0°'1ZZ'0T) (00'000°€T) 0k
00°0 000 (00°vED) Spe.ed/suoney dllgnd
000 %66'66 (8v'0) 5'eeb'e (00'vEV'E) (00°000°€) 8€7
000 000 000 sang
00'S2T %00'¥S (00'0€2) 00°0£2 (007005) (00°005) SET
00'0 00°0 00°0 Buiurel| puy uoneonp3 asAojdug
000 %T9'0S (+8'296'0) 9T°LEQ’E (00"000'9) {(00°0009) 8p1
000 00'0 00°0 3ouelnsut JuswAojdwaun
€H'81 %t6'St (62°0£0) 1£°6T¢C (00°00%) (00°00%) LbT
00'0 000 00'0 (s1eys s1aA0lduwig) 120
19'TLE %/T°€9 (96'2£5'2) Y0 CTy'y (00°0002) (00°000°2) b1
00°0 000 00'000'GT ssbem
£5/58'y %0£'68 (66'T+2'8) 10°85£'89 (00°000°22) (00'000°26) 121
juswyedsg 814 00TZP
000 000 0070002 juawdinby
000 196png oN 00'0 000 000 (00°000'0) ov6
punj 6nig  6ZTITY
00°0 000 000 juswdinbg
000 %8E°56 (80°€£L'D) 26'97CLS (00'000°09) (00'00009) ov6
asuesqunoug pasn % ajqejieay spung sgduelqunouly jabpng |ejol sjuswpuswy 1palqo Jajua)d palqo
/renpy /sainypuadx3y /aebpng JeuiblQ qns 350D
aln aia
%00°001 ‘aApesedwo) Ajyiuol OTT : pung
8T 40 9 9beq §TO0T dunc
Wd 02+ S202/L1/L awil /areq saduelquindug pue sainjpuadxd Jo Juswalels 1 :Aq pajeatd

SWeI||IM JJAL

wesn

[owie) JUNO JO uMmoy

aInyipuadx3 4O JUBLIBIEIS DT

:awep Ijejdwal



000 00°0 00°0 2ouelInsuy JuswAojdwsaun
00°0 %b9'S (9g'p6) ¥9's (00°00T1) (00°00T) Vg
00°0 000 000 (a1eys s oholdwl) IseQ
00°0 %T6'vE (9z'926) bLECS (00°005'T) (00°00S'T) bl
000 00°0 00°S¥T sabem
00°0 %G60°95 (1b£5€'2) 65°L6£'6 (00°s5£'91) (00°0002T) ¥4}
juswpedaq joauo) [ewuy  00bTH
000 000 (00°56£'LSb) uswdinbz
08'S/8'€9 %L1°SC (6v'10T'15%) 15°€69'15T (00°56£'209) (00°000°5¥T) 0v6
000 000 000 SnoaUe|[R0S|IA
0062 %08'69 (00°z0¢) 00869 (00'000'T) (00"000'T) 6L
000 000 00’0 Jewdinbg yuswpedaq a4
9T vLY'T %L 66 (£0'tp) £6'256'LT (00°000"8T) (00°000°81) e
00°0 000 000 asuadx3 olpey
000 %TE'L6 (€Tven) 11°998'p (00°000°5) (00°000°s) 9€€
000 000 000 asuadxg fand
88'60b %I8'€L (LT'148'T) €L°8T0'p (00°000'9) (00°000'9) T€E
0070 000 0070 asuadxg bunessdo aPIYsA
81-2L€ %89"+9 (+9'5650T) 9E' 0P 6T (00'000°0€) (00°000'0€) €€
000 000 (00"001) suuoyuN puy Suiyio
P1°0LT %LT'66 ((Varad) 0€°2£0'E (00'001°€) (00'000°€) 9z¢
00°0 000 (00°000°0£) saiiddns bunesado
000 %92'86 (£8'152'T) £1'8b/'0L (00°000'24) (00'000'2) oze
000 000 000 abeysod puy sanddns 20140
€499 %E0"86 (eL6T) LT'086 (00"000'T) (00°000'T) 01€
000 000 000 SDIAIBS [enPRIUC)
000 %05°/9 (00°059) 00°0S€'T (00'000') {00°000°2) 062
0070 000 (00°00v'2) Bunsal eyso
000 %866 (v8es) 9T'9b£'0T (00"00p'0T) (00°000°'8) 182
aouelquinougz pasn % a|qe|ieAy spung saJuelqunougy 3ebpng (ejol spuswpuswy Pelqo 193uUd) P3[qo
/1enppy /seimyipuadx3 /396png |euibLQ qns 350D
alnw aiA
%Q00'00T :aAiesedwo) Ao OTT :puny
8T Jo / 9bed §20¢ sunt
Wd 0Z:¥ ST0T/LT/L awi] /ajeq sacuelquinoug pue sainjipuadxy jo Juswalels VI :Aq pajeas)
swiel[|ip J9JAL HED Joule) JUNOY JO UMO] ainyipuadx3 4o Juswalels Do :aweN ajejdwa L



000 00'0 000 (a1eys sgaholduia) iseg
0070 396png oN (00°2€T) (00'zen) 00°0 000 1
00'0 00'0 00'0 sabem
000 126png oN (00'¥bT) {00'¥b1) 000 0070 121
juwsbeuepy Iajemuiiols fuondadsuy buipjing  oZbTh
00°0 00°0 00°00S"% uawdinb3
000 196png oN 00°0 000 0070 (007005 %) 0v6
000 000 (oo0m) SNO3UE|[3ISIIW
00°0 %08'96 (ze'0) 89'6 (oo'om) 000 6Lt
00°0 0070 000 asuadxg fend
00'0 %TEbE (08'20£'T) 02'268 (00°009'0) (00'0097) T€€
000 00'0 (00°5€2) asuadxg Bupesedo dpIyRA
00°0 %00°00T 00'0 00°S€€'T (00'se€'T) (00°00T°T) 1}%3
00°0 00°0 000 swojun puy Buipopn
0070 %000 (00'001) 00'0 (co'001) (00"001) 9Z¢
00°0 00°0 000 saddns bunesedo
000 %00°0 (00'001) 000 (oo'001) (00°001) oze
0070 00°0 000 S3IIAIDS [EOIPRIA
00°0 %000 (00°00T) 000 (00°00T) (00°00T) Y4
00°0 00°0 00°0 SIOIAISS UOHEIIUNWIWOD J3Y3Q puy auoydspL
96'18 %T1°SL (6z°6vT) 1405 (00°009) (00°009) 124
00°0 00°0 000 sapnn
00°0 %000 (00%00T1) 000 (00'o01) (00"001) (1] 24
000 000 00°0 seng
000 %00°0 (00°00T) 000 (00001) (00-00T) SET
00°0 00'0 000 s34
000 %ET'E9 (00°056'0) 00°050'S (0070008} (00°000°8) 0/1
000 00'0 000 Buluiel) puy uoyeonps asAojdw3
00'0 %000 (00°00T) 000 (00°00T) {00-00T1) 8t1
souesqunoug pasn % 9lqe|leAy spung sasueIqUINOUZ 19b6png jejol SsjuawpuaWy P3(qo 19U P2Aq0
/1enpy /seanypuadxa /1e6png [euwiblo qns 150D
din alA
%00°00T :3Aeledwo) Aujuoiy oTT : pund
8T Jo g abeq ST0¢ 2ung
Wd 02't §202//1/L awn) fo3eq seduelquindugl pue sainjpuadxy Jo Juswslels I :Aq pajeasd
swel[im J9JAL HELT)] |ow.e) JUnojy JO UMo] ainjipuadx3 Jo Juawalels Do :awepn ejdwa)



000 000 000 SSOIAIBS JRUIBI]
[4 AfA g %bS b6 (¥1'601) 98°068'T {00'000"2) (00°000'0) 184
00'0 00°0 00°0 Buiurey] puy uoneonp3 sa4ojdws
000 %0661 (0s'102'T) 05°86¢ (00°005'T) (00'005'T) 8b1
00'0 00°'0 00'0 2ouelnsuy JuswAojdwsaun
00°0 %00'Ck (66'682) 10072 (00'00%) (00°00%) g
00°0 00°0 00°0 uonesuadwo) s,uswiop
000 196png oN (00'€er'D) (o0'eey'®) 0070 00'0 91
00'0 00°0 00'0 ue|d JuUawaIney ssiojdwy
62 Pb'T %0E'ES (8T'8Lb'pT) TLTTS9T (00'000°1€) (00"000°1€) 348
00'0 00°0 (00'000'9) adueINsuT 9240jdw3
A %6288 (50'1Z9'9) §6'8LE'th (00°000'8V) (00°000'2H) Wl
000 00°0 000 (a1eys saholdwz) 1Ise0
9T'L6E'T %99'59 (£8'v92'9) L1'S€6'TT (00°00£'61) (00°00£'6T) b1
00'0 00°0 (000000 sabep SUIHRAQ
TEL1E %688 (8€°2Lp'T) 29'Tes’s (00°0002) (00°000°S) 44}
00'0 000 000 sabem
19°€TH'61 %80°98 (S6'TH6'vE) §0°850°9T¢ (00'000'152) (00°000'152) 121
s1994s puy sAemybiH  00TEY
00°0 000 00°00S Snosue||RoSIW
000 %09'€8 (oz'®) 08'TH (00'09) (00°05%) 6Lb
00°0 000 00°006'T sayddng Bunesado
00°0 %6615 (10°'8p) 66'15 (00 001) (00°000'2) oze
00°0 000 00'000'sZ uonljows(
000 126png oN 00°0 000 00'0 (00°000's2) 69¢
00'0 0070 (00'000°SS) sanq
05'282'9 %0T'98 (1s5°€€T’en) 6v'99£'SL (00°006'28) (00°006'2€) GET
000 00°0 00°009'2 Bujuiel) puy uonednpy sskoldw
00°0 196png oN 000 000 00°0 (00°009'0) 8p1
ouelgqunoug pasn % ajqejleAy spund sajuelquniug 39bpng [ej0L sjuswpudy P9elqo 19U3) 09o[qo0
/1emoy [saanyipuadx3 /1e6png JeuiblIO qns 150D
aiw dlA
%00°00T :aAnetedwo) Ajyuop OTT : puny
8T 40 6 obed §Z0T dung
Wd 02 S202/L1/L iown) /e3eq SaoueIqUINOUT pue SaINpuadx3 Jo Juswalels 291 :Aq pajeald
SWwel||ipm J9JAL HEL ) [SuLie) JUNOW JO UMOL ainypuadxg Jo JuswWalels Do aweN aejdwo)



00°0 000 00°050°CT Buired
1T°£1€'92 %6L°L8 (01°018'8¢) 06'6£1'64C (00'056°£1€) (00°000'0£€) 1€6
00°0 000 000 Jieday sbeutelq
000 %000 (00°000'T) 00°0 (00°000°T) (00°000'1) [4:12
00°0 000 00°0 snoaue|jedsiiy
000 %Eb'S6 (b2 sp) 9T'b56 (00"000'T) (00°000'T) 6Lt
00°0 000 00'0 asuadxg [ond
v1'021'9 %LT'16 (02°z60°€) 08'206'T€ (00"0005€) {00°000°s€) T€€
00'0 000 00'0 asuadxg Bunessdp sPIYsA
18'T119 %2128 (96'89t"t) $0'1€5'0T (00"000°52) (00°000'52) 0ge
00°0 00°0 000 swLoun puy Buo
00'0 %T19°€9 (L¥'2£9'T) £6°798'C (00°005'%) (00°005 %) 9¢¢
00°0 000 {00°005'7) sal|ddng funesado
05299 %bT'86 (c0's81) L6'H1E'0T (00°00s°0T) (00°000'8) oze
000 0070 (00°05) abeisod puy senddns o0
S6'%0T %80'T6 (90°6b) ¥6'00S (007059) (00°00%) o1€
000 000 000 buisea Juawdinbg
000 %96'TE (Lz'18e'D) €L8TTT (00°005°€) (00°005'€) v6¢
00°0 000 000 [arel
000 %000 (00°000'T) 000 (00°000'T) (00'000'T) 082
00°0 000 00°0 19135 puY SpeOY SdUBUSUIRK puy Jieday
00'0 %685 (v0'L2T'9) 96°7/L'8 (00'000'ST) (00°000'sT) 892
000 000 (00°005'T) sbulpjing soueusjule|y puy Jjedsy
SE'STH %S.L'¥6 (8z'9£0) 2LE9TY (00°00S'Y) (00°000°€) 997
000 000 000 S3JIAISS [EDIPSIA
000 %009/ (00'0zm) 00°08€ (00°00%) (00°00%) 152
00°0 000 000 SSDIAISS UOHEDIUNWIWO) J3YI0 PUy duoydajaL
PS1ES %95°€6 (9v°08T1) ¥S'619°C (00"008'2) {(00'008'2) 174
00'0 00°0 000 N
LLTET'T %0678 (18'€82'T) 61°9TT'L (007005'8) (00°005'8) (1] 24
asuelquinouly pPasn % ajqe|leAy spunj saduelIqundug 39b6png |ejol sjuawpuawy 9[q0 123Ud) PIqo
/1enpoy /seanypuadx3 /1e6png jeulbLio qns 150D
din alA

%00°007T ‘aAeIRdWO) AjUAUOW OFT : puny
8T 40 0T 9beq STOT 2ung
Wd 02t S20/L1/4 sl /a%eq sadueiquinduz pue sainjipuadxy Jo Juswajels 91 iAq pajeasd
Swel||im 49JAL HELS joue) JUNO JO UMOL alnjipuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do dweN ejdwa]



00°0 000 000 S3OIIDS (21PN
00°0 %00°SP (00°55) 00°'St (00"001) (00'00T) 152
0070 000 00°0 ouRINSUT JuawAojdwaun
000 %00'2k (0085) 00'2r (00*001) (00'001) ags
00°0 00°0 00'0 ue|d Juswainay aaiojdwy
05'6TH %9¢'8Y (6v'6€1"p) 15'098'¢€ (00"000°8) (00°000'8) b1
000 0070 (00°005'T) aoueunsu] aaAojdw
09°6£0'T %89°68 (09'96v'T) 0b"€00'ET (00°005'¥T) (00°000°€T) Wl
000 0070 0070 (a4eys s eAoldwl) IseQ
TT'86E %TL 0L (6£7002'T) 19'668'C (00°001't) (00°001') vl
00°0 000 000 Sabep SWIMBAQ
000 %TT"bS (LeLp1'T) €9'¢5¢'T (00°005'2) (0070050 [44!
000 00'0 (007000'9) sobem
08°0£2'S %TC'68 (92°£81°9) vL'212'1S (00°00t'2S) (00"00¥'15) ¥4}
BuipAday puy 21seM pIios  00ZED
000 0070 (00"000°') juswidinbg
00'T9€ %bE'S6 (£6'81¥) €0°785'8 (00°000°6) (00"000'9) ov6
00°0 00°0 00°00SCT buired
00°0 %Eb TT (55'€12'€€) Sb'98C'h (00°005°2€) (00°000°05) 1€6
00°0 00°0 000 saljddns puy slelisien
€2°69b'C %2869 (1t"€50'6) 65°956'0C (00'000°0€) (00"000°0€) 00t
000 00°0 000 aoueuajulely 36 dyel
00°0 %0T'61 (00'919'T) 00°¥8¢ (00'000'2) (00°000'2) 373
00'0 00°0 000 sa||ddns puy sHed ubig
00°0 %98'TH (85'159'%) were's (00'000°8) (00°000°8) we
00°0 00°0 00°0 bunybn 1ans
T8'LP9'TT %C9°E8 (Zb'v01°cT) 85756899 (00°000°08) (00'000°08) Yag4
plv 19818 9eIS  06TED
00°0 000 00°0 Juswdinb3
0L'b9EL %116 (€9°621°S) LE'0L8'VTT (00°000'0£7) (00'000'0€2) 0v6
QdueIqUINOUZ pasn % alqe[ieAy spung saoueiqunouy 3ebpng |ejol SjuUdWpuUdWY P3AUqO Jajua) Pafqo
/1lenppy /seimypuadx3 /196png JeulbLio qns 150D
dlin dlA
%00°001 :aneledwo) Alyiuon OTT :pung
8T Jo 1T =bed S¢0T sung
IWd 02:¥ 5202/LT/L 2wl /aleq sadueiquindug pue sainjipusdx3 Jo Juswalels M :Aq pajeasd
SWel|)Ip JSJAL HEL) [owie) Junojy Jo umoy anjpuadx3 Jo JusSWaleIs Do

:awepN aejdwa)



000 000 000 Bujutel] puy uopeanp3 sakojdwy
00°0 %SH'/T (e5'520) Lb'pLT (00'000'T) (00'000'T) 8b1

000 000 00'0 2oueInsuI JuswAojdwaun
€98 %00°€6 (08'6) 0C'0€1 (oo'ovT) (o0'0bT) Yia!

000 000 000 (21eys ssahojduwg) 1seQ
9EL¥T %59'89 (e8'€52'T) LT'9bL'C (00"000'%) (00°000°t) Tp1

000 000 000 sabem
cLeee’s %8H'€6 (z€'996'0) 89°€eES'cy (007005 'SH) (00°005'St) 1e1
Areaqil  008tb

000 000 00°00T'v6 pueT
000 %00°0 (00°006'50T) 000 (00'006'S0T) (00°000'002) 016

00°0 00'0 00°000°5¢ uonesado puy juswidoASQ Hed
9E'V6T %581/ (£5'€58'6) Lb'9pT'Se (00°000'5€) (00°000°09) su

000 000 00°¢6¢'88 aseydingd puen
00°0 %200 (00'9v9'11E) 00729 (00'80£'11€) (00°000'00t) STL

000 000 00°0 SNOJUR||DISIN
00°00S'T %06°£89 ¥L'654'T ¥£'60L'T (00'052) (00°052) 6Lt

000 0070 0070 salddns bunesedo
6b'9TE %09°08 (50'162) S6'807'1 (00°00S'T) (00°005'T) 1143

000 000 000 ied [PLOWSIA JeM UBISIBA
00°0 %S2°8T (es'L18) 8281 (00°000'T) (00'000'T) o€

000 000 000 sspiN
Sb'0Th'T %9677 (68'20v'ST) 11°265'% (00°000°02) (00°000'02) V24
uoneanay  Obvib

00°0 00°0 (007000'T) asuadxg bupessdo SpIYsA
91'950'T %6926 (¥ €sS) 9/'9bb'eC (00°000°v2) (00'000'c2) 0€€

0070 000 000 salddns bupessdQ
000 %S6'TH (sz'062) SL'60¢ (00°009) (00°008) 1743

000 0070 0070 SOIAIRS [ENIIR[UOD
05'€ve'oy %5586 (00'%55°€) 00°9¥'THT (00000'st°0) (00°000'5+2) 067

ajuelquinduz pasn % a|qe|ieAy spung saouelqunoug 3obpng [ej0L sjusWipuadwy P3(qo Jajus) palgo
/1lemdy [seimypuadx3 /3ebpng jewibLIO qns 350D
(I 7] ala
%00°00T :anneledwo) Ajyjuop OTT : pung
8T 40 zT 9beq SZ0T dung

Wd 02 S202/L1/L wil/ageq saoueIquInNdug pue sainjipuadx3 jo juswalels I91 :Aq pajeas)
SWBIA JSJAL asn jowse) Junopy Jo umoyl aInjipuadxg 4o Juswalels Do aweN ejdwal



00°0 000 (00'%08'S) SIDIAIRS [eUOSISd
000 %00°00T 000 00'408'S (00'v08'S) 000 001
sjuswied jedidulid asea] 00006
000 000 00°0 welbold Buipesy Jawwng
96°868 %8£'99 (2e'%99) 89°G€€'T (00'000'2) (00°000'0) 12
00'0 000 000 Jaido) asea bunessdo
8b'1€ %6/'18 (€0'16) £6'80% (00°00%) (00°00%) §79
000 000 00°0 T2-07 e buluresj Areiqry
00°0 %0070 (00'000'2) 00'0 (00'000'2) (00°000'0) 619
00'0 00°0 00°0 sMood
8L'€9¢ %LT96 (58'26T) S1'201'S (00°00£°S) (00-00€'s) 06b
00°0 000 000 SNO3UE|[3SIA
852 %LE08 (vs'8s) 9p'1ZE (00°00%) (00°00%) 6L
00°0 00'0 (00°008) abejsod puy saljddns oW
009 %608 (e1°81¢€) /8'789'T (00"000'0) (00°005'T) o1€
00'0 000 000 [enell
000 %000 (00°00%) 000 (00"00%) (00°00%) 08¢
0070 000 000 sBulpjing Sdueujulely puy Jledey
000 %ET'/T (90°981'2) ¥6'cT8 (00°000°€) (00°000°€) 997
00°0 00°0 000 voddng aiemyos/aiemple Jseindwo)
000 %E£9°09 (€0°€ep) £6'999 (00°00T°T) (00°001'T) S5
00°0 00'0 000 S3DIAIRS [EDIPBI
00°0 %000 (0000T1) 000 (00'001) (00*001) 152
00'0 00'0 00'0 SBDIAIDS UOIRIIUNWWAOY) JaylQ puy auoyds|al.
£p'9Z %61 b1 (01°858) 06'THT (00'000'T) (00'000'T) 74
000 000 00°0 seninN
¥8'28¢ %T8TS (z6'85€'0) 80' 1492 (00°000°S) (00°000's) 0ve
00°0 000 00'0 SIDIAIDS JDUIBUT
W6EE %TTT9 (Lbeet'n) £5'998'7 (00°000°€) (00'000°€) 912
JdueIqunduly pasn % a|qe|ieAay spung saduelquniug 39bpng jejol sjusWpuUdWyY Pa3lqo J9ju’d) P2(q0
/1enjoy [sainypuadxg J1ebpng jeulbluip qns 350)
dln alA
%00'001 :annetedwon Ajypuoly OTT : pung
8T 40 €1 9beq §TO0Z dung
IWd 0Z% §202/L1/L :owy) /ereq ssouklquNdUg pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juswalels 291 :Aq p=jeal)
SWeIIM J9JAL 3sn [owie) JUNO JO UMOL aInypuadx] Jo Juswajels Do :dwep Sejdwd]



00°0 00°0 (00'0269%5)
91'/86£05 %0T'TL (£9'9¢b'€8p'T) LEEHT6P9'E (00°089°z€1'S) (00°092'585"p) OTT :pundlod |eioL
00'0 000 (00°508) sal|ddns puy sjeien
00'0 %00'00T 00'0 00'505 (00°505) 000 00v
00°0 00'0 (00'566'S) ed [2LOWS Jep URISiap
00'0 %00'001 00°0 00'566'S (00'566'S) 00'0 00€
00°0 000 (00°88p) Huisea Juswdinb3
00°0 %00"00T 000 00°'88% (00°88p) 00°0 62
soueIqunouy posn % alqejieAy spund saoueIquIndug jobpng |elol sjuawpudwy P3(qo Jajua) P2[qo
/1enpy [seinyipuadx3 /396png [euibli0 qns 150D
alwW aiA

%00"00T :anneledwo) Ayiuopw OTT :pung
8T 40 T obey se¢0c aung
Wd 02:% SZ0Z/L1/2 :owyg /ajeq sadueIqUINDUZ pue saunjpuadx3 Jo Juswajels o9 :Aq pajeasd
SWel[|IM J9JAL HELT)) [owe) JUNo JO UMOoL ainyipuadxg Jo Juswalels Do aweN dejdwa]



00'0 00'0 (00°005°2) saolAlRS [eba
000 %89°95 (05°STH'S) 0S'+80'2 (00°005°2T) (00'000°s) 414
00°0 00'0 000 SADIAIDS [@31p3IN
000 %00'0¢ (00°00b) 00001 (00°00S) (00°00%) 16¢
000 000 00°0 SSVIAIIS UOHEDIUNWIWOD J3UYI0 puy duoydajaL
0E'Ttht %SGT1'SS (Cla474rd) $9'£5L'T (00'000's) (00°000°S) (N74
00°0 000 (00°000°05) somIN
12£86'0¢ %ELL6 (£5'829'€) € TLE'9ST (00"000°091) (00"000°0TT) 1} 74
00°0 00'0 00°0 seng
000 %16'Gh (00'061°1) 00°0T0'T (00°002'0) (00'002'0) x4
000 00'0 00°0 SOIAIBS JOULBIU]
96'ZET %LY'16 (vz'89) 9/ 1€L (00°008) (00'008) 912
00°0 00°0 00°000'2 Bulurel] puy uonednp3 ssAojdwy
000 9b6png oN 00°0 00°0 00°0 (00°000'2) 8yl
000 00°0 000 ?oueInsuy JuswAojdwaun
000 %0LHT (zs'9L€) 8veTT (007008) (00°00%) b1
00°0 00'0 000 uopesuadwoy) s,UsWIoM
00'0 %S5 04L 85°£T8'€E 85°/7S'8¢E (00°000°S) (00000'S) 91
00'0 00°0 00°000°sT ueld Juswainay sakojdws
000 %SL'P6 (11°529) 68°bLP'6 (00'000°0T) (00°000°5€) 1348
00°0 00°0 00700052 aue.nsu] saAoldws
00'0 %0b'Th (68'091'02) TT°6E8"HT (00°000'5€) (00°000'09) wl
00°0 000 00'+8€'TT (a1eys soAojdws) iseo
000 %00°00T (110 68'S19'8 (00'919'8) (00°000°02) |12
000 00°0 00°008°¢ sabep SWIHBAQ
000 %58'66 (ecL1) LLT8T'TT (00°002'1T) (00°000°GT) 44!
00°0 000 00'000's2 sobem
000 %b9°SS (zv'082'¥8) 85'61/'S0T (00"000°06T) (00°000'512) 4
JPMIS  00ZZS
aouesqunouy pasn % a|qe|leay spungj sadue.squnoug jabpng jejol Ssjuswipuawy 3[q0 123Ud) Pa(qo
/1enpy /saunyipuadxa /196png JeuiblO qns 150D
din dlA
%00'00T :2Aneledwo) AJUIuoW 2Ty : pund
8T Jo GT dbed §z0oz aung
Wd 0Z:% §202/LT/L o) /ezeq seduelquINdu3 pue sainypuadxy Jo Juswels I :Aq pa:jeasd
SWwel|IM 19JAL HE] [owe) JUNOW JO UMOL alnjpuadx3 Jo Juswslels D5 :awep ajejdwa]



00°0 000 00'000'62 aouRURIUlRY puY Jledsy uojes dwnd
00°0 %0°6T (91'18V°0b) $8'815'6 (00°000°05) (00°000°52) 19¢
00°0 000 00°0 asuadxg |and
§b'99/ %be'Es (£0'zz6) €6'LLS"Y (00°005'S) (00°005's) €€
0070 000 000 asuadxg bunessdo IPIYsA
8p/T %926 (88'9€5°7) (4% 2rd (00°000'S) (00°000'S) 0€€
00°'0 000 00°v927'9 suwioyiun puy Buyio
00°0 %L6'66 (L¥'0) €5°SEL'T (00'9¢£'T) (00°000'8) 9z¢
000 000 (00°000'2) sfeanuayd
08'6/8'T %ST'66 (gz'%91) £1°5€8'TT (00°000'22) (00°000°02) 44
00°0 000 (00'005"2) sa||ddns Bunesado
00°02€ %E6'H6 L' 92'89€'1¢C (00'005'27) (00'000'ST) 1743
000 000 (00°05) abeisod puy sa|ddns 200
000 %E8'86 (9v'9) $S'EVS (00°055) (00°005) 01€
000 000 (00'000's) S834 UOISSIWWOo)
00°580°2 %8b'L6 (00°0£9) 00°0£E'%T (00°000'52) (00°000°02) 86
00°0 000 (00'000°05T) SIVIAISS [eNPRIIU0D
$0'691°85 %00°6T1 ¥6'020'0€ $6°020'881 (00°000'85T) (00°000'8) 06
000 000 000 [oARLL
0070 %000 (00'000'1) 00°0 (00'000'T) (00'000°T) 082
00°0 000 000 392415 puy Speoy SdueUSIUR|Y puy Jieday
00°54S %97'9T (95'198'S) ¥ 8ET'T (00°000%2) (00'000°2) 8927
00°0 00°0 (007000°€) SODIAISS BOURUSIUIRIY puY Jledsy
00°0 %ES"86 (+9'06T) 9€'608'TT (00"000°€T) (00°000°0T) 092
000 000 00'0 Uoddng alemyos/aiempleH Jaindwo)
000 %00°0 (00°000'T) 000 (00"000'T) (00'000'T) §5T
000 0070 (00"000°56) SRS Bupssubug
00°6£S'EE %89°G6 (¥+"996'%) 95"€€0"0TT (00°000°STT) (00°000'02) 414
0070 00°0 000 s34 Bunipny puy bununoy
000 %000 (00°000'27) 000 (00°000°2) (00°000'2) €52
asuelqunoug pPasn % ajgejieay spung saduelqunduy 3abpng |ejolL sjuduipuldwy Palqo Iaqua) 9[q0
/1enpy /sainyipuadx3 /3e6png JeuibLo qns 350D
alw aia

24,00"00T ‘9AlRIRdWOD AJYIUOHK I pung
8T 40 9T 2bed §70T sung
Wd 0Z:% S202/L1/L 2wl /ajeq seduelquinoug pue sainjipuadxy JO JUBWILELS oY :Aq pajeasd

SWe||Ip J9JAL

19sn

Joue) JUNOK Jo umoj

aInyipusdx3 Jo Juswalels Do :aweN ajejdwal



00'0 000 000 S0UBUBIUIRY 13300Y 010 /SS31d )fed
81°6/ %8E"PE (ez'v86) LL°S1S (00°005'T) (00°005'T) 656
000 000 (00°005'T) |esodsiq @6pn|S ug
60°98€ T %St 00T 96°0£T 96'0£4'1S (00°005'15) (00°000°05) 56
00°0 000 00°000°52 swdinbg
00°0 %000 (00"000'05) 0070 (00°000°05) (00°000°52) o¥6
00°0 000 000 sabiey) solaiRS yueg
000 %000 (00'0zT) 000 (oorozm) (0o'0zT) 169
00°0 000 000 35849)U] ep|L
000 %80°9€ (cr'ses’e) LLP9T'T (00"000'9) {00°000'9) S€9
00°0 000 00°000'SZ spuog Buipurysy xel /A3y €107
00'0 %000 (00°000'ST) 0070 (00'000°ST) (00°000°0%) ¥19
00°0 000 00°0 S84 JiWiad 2315
00°0 %9886 (00°0b) 00°09%'€ (00°005'€) (00°005°€) 965
00°0 000 (00'289'8¢) uonepaidsq
00'0 %00°00T 00°0 007789'842 (00°z89'8£27) (00°000'0t2) 0bS
000 000 (00"000°0t) [eyuay Juatudinb3 puy Asulyoep
00'00S°2T %ET'66 (00°00%) 007005 '¥9 (00'000°59) (00°000'52) €€s
000 000 (00'8zv'v) oueINsuI
000 %0000 0070 00°8Tk'sC (00'82p's2) (00°000'12) 015
00°0 00°0 00°0 snoaue|[aasii
000 %80°85 (T 61h) 8£°08S {(00°000'T) (00°000'T) 6Lb
000 00°0 00°000'52 NOLLDNYLSNOD
00°6/€'LT %S0°'T (24'08€'954'T) £5°619'8T (00°000'52£'T) (00°000'008'T) 10
0070 000 00°0 soueuAUIRly PUY Hedsy Jueld Jajemaisep
00°07S'T %S5°06 (TT°€2L'Y) 68'9£2'SP (00"00005) (00°00005) ¥9¢
00°0 000 000 adoUBUBIURI puy Jleday Bury Jomas
08'Z¥S'T %61°€0T 08'Lb 08°LbS'T (00'00$'T) (00"005'1) £9¢
00°0 000 000 soueujUlely puy Jiedsy duind jenuspissy
00°0L£'2 %LL'S6 (00°0£1°€) 00°0€8'1L (00°000'5£) (00°000'52) 79¢
@dueaqunoug pasn % a|qejieAy spunyg seoueiqunoug o6png [eiol sjuswipuswy P2(qo Jajua) P2[qo
/1empy [saanmypuadx3 /326png [eulblQ qns 350D
ain ala

%00°007T 1aAnetedwo) AJUIuol ZTb :pung
8T Jo /T dbed SZ0T dung
Wd 0Z:% §202/41/L iy /ajeq saduelquindug pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juswalels 91 :Aq pajeas)
SWwel|lIM J9JAL L19sM [PulIe) JUNo Jo umol aunypuadxg Jo uawalels Do :owep ajejdwal



00°0 000 (oo'zr2'to0)
1€°82/'881 %SE"0p (85'155°0S6'T) '08T'6TET (00'2£8'697'c) (00'029'890°€) ZIb  :pund log |ejol
00'0 000 00'000°S S1emo|g Jue|d Jamas
00°0 196png oN 00°0 00°0 00'0 (007000's) 956
Jdueiqunduz posn % a|qe|leAy spung ssduelqunoug 3eb6png |ejoL sjuswpuswy P3[q0 iul) »alqo
/1enpy [samypusdx3 /1e6png JeuiblQ qns 150D
aln aia

%00"00T :anjeIedWo) AfUIUOW TTP :pung
8T Jo 8T 9beq §T0C aung
Wd 0Z:% S202/L1/¢ iowy) fereq sesuelqundul pue saunjipuadx3 jo Juswalels M1 :Aq pajeald

SWellim JAL

uasn

[ouLIE) JUNOK JO umo]

ainyipuadxg Jo Juswalels Do :awep ajejdwa)



Mount Carmel Fire Department

Mitch Walker, Fire Chief

July 1st, 2025
To: James Stables, City Manager
Ref: June 2025 Monthly Report

The Mount Carmel Fire Department answered a total of 29 calls for service during the month of
June. Day shift personnel answered 20 calls, and 9 calls were answered by volunteer staff. Our
average dispatch to arrival time was 5:09 with a 90" percentile of 8:29. Calls for this month
included structure fires, multiple vehicle accidents and medical responses. This brings our year-

to-date total to 211 calls for service.

June was clean-up month around the fire department. Members completed multiple projects
around the station to enhance the look for summer months. Power washing, weeding, and
window cleaning occurred to keep our renovated station in top condition. We also saw the
installation of our new SCBA compressor and fill-station, this grant funded equipment allows us
to refill air bottles quickly and efficiently. This $70,000 equipment was acquired at no cost to the

town.

During June, the focus of training revolved around water supply. Our department has really
worked hard to build equipment and training to increase efficiency and volume during water
supply operations. We would like to congratulate Firefighters Caleb McKinley and Elijah
Needham on obtaining their Firefighter | certifications, Firefighter Michael Murray on obtaining
aerial apparatus operator certification, and Firefighter Hayden Joyner on obtaining Fire Officer

Ill. These members are dedicated to continuing their education.
Thank you and the BMA for your continued support.

Mitch Walker, Fire Chief

100 EAST MAIN STREET, MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE 37645
T (423) 444-1027 1 MCFD@MOUNTCARMELTN.GOV



'S aso Total Record Volume By Incident Type

Custom v Jun 1, 2025 - Jun 30, 2025 v

38%

FIRE
Pereentage of Tatdl
Incidents

62%

EMS
percentagze of Total &
Incidents

29 "

INCIDENTS
In Selected Time Skce 1

30 o

DAYS
In Selecied Time Shce
¥}
jun2 Jun 4 Juné Jun8 Jun 10 Jun 12 Jun 14
jan’22 Jul'22 Jan'23 Jul'23
.
% Rows % Columns % All

Week Ending 6/1/25 6/8/25 6/15/25  6/22/25  6/289/25 7/6/25 7/13/25

(11) Structure 1 1
Fire

(31) Medical
assist 3 3 4 2

{32) Emergency

medical 2 5 2
service (EMS)

incident

(44) Electrical
wiring/equipm. 1
problem

(46) Accident,
potential 1
accldent

(55) Public
service 1 1
asslstance

(61)

Dispatched 1

and canceled

en route

62) Wrong

acation, no 1
emergency

foun

(63) Controlled 1
burning

(73) System or

detector 1
malfunction

(9

Unintentional

system/detect.,, 1

aperation (no

fire)

Total 5 8 9 7

Page 1 of 1

7/20/25

Jun 24 Jun 26

jun28  jun .

Jun 16 Jun 18 jun 20 Jun 22

Jan‘24 Jul24 Jan'25 HH
i

7/27/25 8/3/25 8/10/25 8/17/25  8/24/25 Total

29



MOUNT CARMEL

%f/ﬂcd 7o /;nz‘{fawn sa.als

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, Town Administrator/Manager

FROM: James Stables, Town Administrator/Manager

DATE: July 24, 2025

RE: ORDINANCE NO. 25-542 (1st Reading) AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL

AND REPLACE TITLE 3, CHAPTERS 1 THROUGH 4 OF THE MOUNT
CARMEL MUNICIPAL CODE-2010 REGARDING MUNICIPAL COURTS

SUMMARY:

This ordinance will repeal and replace chapters 1 through 4 of the Mount Carmel
Municipal Code-2010, which allows for updates consistent with Tennessee law and
standards and updating the court costs to the current day valuation of expenses.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:
Incalculable revenue increase/decrease to offset overall court costs.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval.

ATTACHMENTS:
EXHIBIT A Proposed Title 3, Chapter 1 through 4 rewritten

EXHIBIT B Original Title 3, Chapter 1 through 4



MOUNT CARMEL

9@/)&7@4 Zo /anz‘//own paal)

ORDINANCE 25-542

BEFORE THE MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL,
TENNESSEE

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND REPLACE TITLE 3, CHAPTERS 1 THROUGH 4
OF THE MOUNT CARMEL MUNICIPAL CODE-2010 REGARDING MUNICIPAL
COURTS

WHEREAS, Title 3 of the Mount Carmel Municipal Code-2010 needs to be updated to reflect
changes in Tennessee law and standards, and to further detail the scope of jurisdiction,
finance, operations, and functions of the municipal court.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town
of Mount Carmel, Tennessee that:

SECTION 1. Title 3, Chapters 1 through 4 of the Mount Carmel Municipal Code is
amended by repealing existing Title 3, Chapter 1 through 4 in their entirety, and replacing
it with Title 3, Chapters 1 through 4 as contained in Exhibit A attached hereto.

SECTION 2. This ordinance shall take effect from and after the final passage upon second
reading, and publishing as required.

Approved on First Reading July 24, 2025
Approved on Second Reading August 28, 2025

Approved as to Form:

Town Attorney

This Ordinance was duly considered and adopted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, on first
reading, in and for the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, this 24t day of July 2025.

Attest

John Gibson, Mayor Tyler Williams, Town Recorder



EXHIBIT A — 2025 REPLACEMENT

TITLE 3
MUNICIPAL COURT

CHAPTER

1. MUNICIPAL JUDGE.

2. COURT ADMINISTRATION.

3. WARRANTS, SUMMONSES AND SUBPOENAS.
4, BONDS AND APPEALS.

CHAPTER 1
MUNICIPAL JUDGE

SECTION
3-101. Municipal judge.
3-102. Jurisdiction.

3-101. Municipal judge.

(1) Office created. Pursuant to the authority granted in state law and the town charter, there
is hereby created and established for the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, the office
of municipal judge, which judge shall be vested with the judicial powers and functions
granted under the laws of Tennessee, and said judge shall be subject to the provisions
of the laws governing the municipal court, as set out by the laws of the State of
Tennessee.

(2) Appointment. The municipal judge designated by the charter to handle judicial matters
within the town shall be appointed by the board of mayor and aldermen and shall serve
at the pleasure of the governing body. Vacancies in the office of the municipal judge
arising from resignation, disqualification or for any other reason whatsoever, shall be
filled in the same manner as prescribed for the appointment of the municipal judge.

(3) Qualifications. The municipal judge shall be a minimum of thirty (30) years of age, be
licensed by the State of Tennessee to practice law, and be a resident of Tennessee.

(4) Term of office: vacancy. The municipal judge shall be appointed by the board of mayor
and aldermen for a term of two (2) years, said term beginning the first day of July and
any incumbent judge shall serve during the term and until his successor is appointed
and qualified. Any vacancy in the office of municipal judge shall be filled for the
unexpired term by the board of mayor and aldermen.

(5) Judge pro tem. During the absence of the municipal judge from his duties for any reason
or at any time the office of the municipal judge is vacant, the board of mayor and
aldermen may appoint a municipal judge pro tem to serve until the municipal judge
returns to his duties or the office of municipal judge is no longer vacant. The municipal
judge pro tem shall have all the qualifications required, and powers, of the municipal
judge.

(6) Oath and bond. The municipal judge shall take the same oath of office as that prescribed
for the mayor and, before entering upon the duties of this office, shall make bond in the



amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000), the cost of said bond being paid by the Town
of Mount Carmel.

(7) Salary. The salary of the municipal judge shall be fixed by board of mayor and aldermen
before his or her appointment and said salary shall not be altered during the term for
which he or she is appointed.

3-102. Jurisdiction. The municipal judge shall have the authority to try persons charged
with the violation of municipal ordinances, and to punish persons convicted of such
violations by levying a civil penalty under the general penalty provision of this code.

CHAPTER 2
COURT ADMINISTRATION

SECTION

3-201. Maintenance of docket.

3-202. Imposition of penalties and costs.

3-203. Disposition and report of penalties and costs.
3-204. Contempt of court.

3-205. Use of collections agency authorized.

3-201. Maintenance of docket. The court clerk in conjunction with the municipal judge
shall keep a complete docket of all matters coming before him in his judicial capacity. The
docket shall include for each defendant such information as his name; alleged offense(s);
disposition; penalties and costs imposed and whether collected; and all other information
which may be relevant.

3-202. Imposition of Fines, Penalties, and Court Costs.

(1) All fines and costs shall be imposed by the municipal judge and recorded by the
municipal court clerk on the municipal court docket. The maximum fine amount shall
be $50.00, as identified in Article VI, Section 14 of the Tennessee Constitution. All
fines or costs to the Town paid via credit or debit cards may be subject to a processing
fee

(2) Court Costs - In all cases heard and determined by him or her, the municipal judge shall
impose court costs in the amount of one hundred and twenty-two dollars ($122.00).
Two dollars ($2.00) of the court costs shall be forwarded by the court clerk to the state
treasurer in accordance to Tennessee Code Annotated § 16-18-304(a) to be used by the
Administrative Office of the Courts for training and continuing education courses for
municipal court judges and municipal court clerks.

(3) Court Costs for compliance dismissal prior to court date - When any person has been
charged with violation of a law regarding vehicle equipment (including but not limited
to inoperable headlights, tail lights, brake lights or turn signals), driver licensing, or
vehicle licensing and registration, the charge may be dismissed if the person charged
with the violation submits evidence of compliance with such law on or before the court
date; provided, however, that the municipal judge may establish a separate court cost
not to exceed $27.00 to be collected from the person charged with the violation. This
separate court costs will be assessed in lieu of the court costs detailed in Section 3-
202(2) above.




Two dollars ($2.00) of the court costs shall be forwarded by the court clerk to the state
treasurer in accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated § 16-18-304(a) to be used by
the Administrative Office of the Courts for training and continuing education courses
for municipal court judges and municipal court clerks.

(4) Litigation Taxes - In all cases where the defendant is charged with the violation of a
municipal ordinance or authorized state statute and is found guilty, whether by trial or
plea of guilty, such defendant shall pay:

(a) The State litigation taxes of $13.75 as defined in Tennessee Code Annotated §
67-4-601.

(b) Any other taxes and/or fees imposed pursuant to state statutes and/or municipal
ordinances.

(5) Electronic citation regulations and fees.
(a) As used in this section, "electronic citation" means a written citation or an
electronic citation prepared by a law enforcement officer on paper or on an
electronic data device with the intent the citation shall be filed, electronically or
otherwise, with a court having jurisdiction over the alleged offense.
(b) Pursuant to and in accordance with state statutory requirements found in
Tennessee Code Section 55-10-207(e), each court clerk shall charge and collect an
electronic citation fee of five dollars ($5.00) for each citation which results in a
conviction.
(c) Sunset provision. This Ordinance and its fee requirement shall terminate five
(5) years from the date of adoption of this Ordinance and the Town’s Municipal
Code shall be so annotated.

3-203. Disposition and report of penalties and costs. All funds coming into the Town in
the form of penalties, costs, and forfeitures shall be recorded by the court clerk. At the end
of each month the court clerk shall submit to the Town Administrator/Manager for
availability to the board of mayor and aldermen a report accounting for the collection or
non-collection of all penalties and costs imposed by his or her court during the current
month and to date for the current fiscal year.

3-204. Contempt of court. Contempt of court is punishable by a fine of fifty dollars
($50.00), or such lesser amount as may be imposed in the judge's discretion.

3-205. Use of a_collection agency authorized. In addition to all other remedies for
collecting delinquent fines and costs owed to the town, the town may use the services of a
collection agency pursuant to the procedures as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated, §
40-24-105. (Ord. #267, Feb. 2004)

CHAPTER 3
SUMMONSES AND SUBPOENAS

SECTION
3-301. Issuance of summonses.
3-302. Issuance of subpoenas.

3-301. Issuance of summonses. When a complaint of an alleged ordinance violation is
made to the municipal judge, the judge may, in his discretion, issue a summons ordering
the alleged offender personally to appear before the municipal court at a time specified




therein to answer to the charges against them. The summons shall contain a brief
description of the offense charged but need not set out verbatim the provisions of the
municipal code or ordinance alleged to have been violated. Upon failure of any person to
appear before the municipal court as commanded in a summons lawfully served on him,
the cause may be proceeded with ex parte, and the judgment of the court shall be valid and
binding subject to the defendant's right of appeal.

3-302. Issuance of subpoenas. The municipal judge may subpoena as witnesses all
persons whose testimony he believes will be relevant and material to matters coming before
his court, and it shall be unlawful for any person lawfully served with such a subpoena to
fail or neglect to comply therewith.

CHAPTER 4
BONDS AND APPEALS

SECTION
3-401. Appeals.
3-402. Bond amounts, conditions, and forms.

3-401. Appeals. Any person dissatisfied with any judgment of the municipal court against
him may, within ten (10) days thereafter, Sundays exclusive, appeal to the circuit court of
the county upon giving bond.

"Person" as used in this section includes, but is not limited to, a natural person, corporation,
business entity or the municipality.

3-402. Bond amounts, conditions, and forms.
(1) Appeal bond. An appeal bond in any case shall be two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00)
for such person's appearance and the faithful prosecution of the appeal.

(2) Pauper's oath. A bond is not required provided the defendant/appellant
(a) Files the following oath of poverty:
I , do solemnly swear under penalties of perjury, that owing to
my poverty, I am not able to bear the expense of the action which I am about to
commence, and that I am justly entitled to the relief sought, to the best of my belief;
(b) Files an accompanying affidavit of indigency.

The affidavit of indigency must be sworn to by the defendant/appellant and the facts therein

may be investigated.

If approved by the Judge, the appeal bond may be waived or reduced

"Person" as used in this section includes, but is not limited to, a natural person, corporation,

business entity or the municipality.




EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT




EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

TITLE 3
MUNICIPAL COURT!

CHAPTER
1. CITY JUDGE.
2. COURT ADMINISTRATION.
3. WARRANTS, SUMMONSES AND SUBPOENAS.
4. BONDS AND APPEALS.

CHAPTER1

CITY JUDGE
SECTION

3-101. City judge.

3-101. City_judge. (1) Office created. Pursuant to the authority granted in state
law and the town charter, there is hereby created and established for the Town of Mount
Carmel, Tennessee, the office of municipal judge, which judge shall be vested with the
judicial powers and functions granted under the laws of Tennessee, and said judge shall
be subject to the provisions of the laws governing the municipal court, as set out by the
laws of the State of Tennessee.

2) Qualifications. Any person serving as municipal judge shall be at least
twenty-five (25) years of age and shall be a resident of the State of Tennessee at the time
of and for the duration of his appointment.

(3)  Term of office: vacancy. The municipal judge shall be appointed by the
board of mayor and aldermen for a term of two (2) years, said term beginning the first day
of July and any incumbent judge shall serve during the term and until his successor is
appointed and qualified. Any vacancy in the office of municipal judge shall be filled for
the unexpired term by the board of mayor and aldermen.

(4)  Oath and bond. The municipal judge shall take the same oath of office as
that prescribed for the mayor and, before entering upon the duties of this office, shall
make bond in the amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00), the cost of said bond being
paid by the Town of Mount Carmel.

(5)  Salary. The salary of the municipal judge shall be fixed by the board of
mayor and aldermen before his or her appointment and said salary

ICharter reference
City Judge--City Court: § 6-4-301.



EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

shall not be altered during the term for which he or she is appointed. (1990 Code, § 3-
101, modified)

CHAPTER 2 COURT

ADMINISTRATION

SECTION

3-201. Maintenance of docket.

3-202. Fines, forfeitures and commissions.

3-203. Disposition and report of fines, penalties, and costs. 3-204.
Contempt of court.

3-205. Use of a collection agency authorized.

3-201. Maintenance of docket. The city judge shall keep a complete docket of
all matters coming before him in his judicial capacity. The docket shall include for each
defendant such information as his name; warrant and/or summons numbers; alleged
offense; disposition; fines, penalties, and costs imposed and whether collected; whether
committed to workhouse; and all other information which may be relevant. (1990 Code, §
3-201)

3-202. Fines, forfeitures, and commissions.! In all charges involving the
violations or alleged violations of a city ordinance:

(1)  Inall cases heard and determined by him, the city judge shall impose court
costs in the amount of seventy-seven dollars and twenty-five cents ($77.25), to be added to
the fine and litigation tax. One dollar ($1.00) of the court costs shall be forwarded by the
court clerk to the state treasurer to be used by the administrative office of the courts for
training and continuing education courses for municipal court judges and municipal court
clerks.

(2)  The maximum fine of forfeiture shall be fifty dollars ($50.00), unless
assessed by a jury of peers who find that the fine should be more than fifty dollars
($50.00), yet not exceeding five hundred dollars ($500.00). (1990 Code, § 3-203, as
amended by Ord. #228, Dec. 2001, and Ord. #09-347, Oct. 2009)

3-203. Disposition and report of fines, penalties. and costs. All funds coming
into the hands of the city judge in the form of fines, penalties, costs, and forfeitures shall
be recorded by him and paid over daily to the town. At the end of each month he shall
submit to the board of mayor and aldermen a report accounting for the collection or
noncollection of all fines, penalties, and costs imposed by his court during the current
month and to date for the current fiscal year. (1990 Code, § 3-203)

IThe schedule of commissions and fines is of record in the office of the city recorder.



EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

3-204. Contempt of court. Contempt of court is punishable by a fine of fifty
dollars ($50.00), or such lesser amount as may be imposed in the judge's discretion.

3-205. Use of a collection agency authorized. In addition to all other remedies for
collecting delinquent fines and costs owed to the town, the town may use the services of a
collection agency pursuant to the procedures as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated, §
40-24-105. (Ord. #267, Feb. 2004)

CHAPTER 3

WARRANTS., SUMMONSES, AND SUBPOENAS

SECTION

3-301. Issuance of arrest warrants. 3-

302. Issuance of summonses.

3-303. Issuance of subpoenas.

3-304. Citations in lieu of arrest in non-traffic cases. 3-305.
Summonses in lieu of arrest.

3-301. Issuance of arrest warrants.! The city judge shall have the power to
issue warrants for the arrest of persons charged with violating municipal ordinances.
(1990 Code, § 3-301)

3-302. Issuance of summonses. When a complaint of an alleged ordinance
violation is made to the city judge, the judge may in his discretion, in lieu of issuing an
arrest warrant, issue a summons ordering the alleged offender personally to appear before
the city court at a time specified therein to answer to the charges against him. The summons
shall contain a brief description of the offense charged but need not set out verbatim the
provisions of the municipal code or ordinance alleged to have been violated. Upon failure
of any person to appear before the city court as commanded in a summons lawfully
served on him, the cause may be proceeded with ex parte, and the judgment of the court
shall be valid and binding subject to the defendant's right of appeal. (1990 Code,

§ 3-302)

3-303. Issuance of subpoenas. The city judge may subpoena as witnesses all
persons whose testimony he believes will be relevant and material to matters coming before
his court, and it shall be unlawful for any person lawfully served with such a subpoena to
fail or neglect to comply therewith. (1990 Code, § 3-303)

3-304. Citations in lieu of arrest in non-traffic cases. Pursuant to Tennessee
Code Annotated, § 7-63-101, et seq., the board of mayor and aldermen appoints the fire
chief, or his designee in the fire department and the building inspector, or his designee in
the building department, special police officers having the authority to issue citations in
lieu of arrest. The fire chief, or his designee in the fire department shall have the authority
to issue citations in lieu

IState law reference
For authority to issue arrest warrants see Tennessee Code Annotated, title 40,
chapter 5.




EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

of arrest for violations of the fire code adopted in this municipal code of ordinances.
The building inspector, or his designee in the building department shall have the authority
to issue citations in lieu of arrest for violations of the building, utility and housing codes
adopted in this municipal code of ordinances. The citation in lieu of arrest shall contain the
name and address of the person being cited and such other information necessary to
identify and give the person cited notice of the charges against him, and state a specific
date and place for the offender to appear and answer the charges against him. The
citation shall also contain an agreement to appear, which shall be signed by the offender. If
the offender refuses to sign the agreement to appear, the special officer in whose presence
the offense was committed shall immediately arrest the offender and dispose of him in
accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated,

§ 7-63-101. (Ord. #211, Dec. 1999)

3-305. Summonses in lieu of arrest. Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, §
7-63-201, et seq., which authorizes the board of mayor and aldermen to designate certain
city enforcement officers the authority to issue ordinance summons in the areas of
sanitation, litter control and animal control, the board designates the animal control officer
or his designee in the police department and the public utilities board manager, or his
designee in the sewer department, to issue ordinance summonses in those areas. These
enforcement officers may not arrest violators or issue citations in lieu of arrest, but upon
witnessing a violation of any ordinance, law or regulation in the areas of sanitation, litter
control or animal control, may issue an ordinance summons and give the summons to the
offender.

The ordinance summons shall contain the name and address of the person being
summoned and such other information necessary to identify and give the person summoned
notice of the charge against him, and state specific date and place for the offender to
appear and answer the charges against him.

The ordinance summons shall also contain an agreement to appear, which shall be
signed by the offender. If the offender refuses to sign the agreement to appear, the
enforcement officer in whose presence the offense occurred may:

(1)  Have a summons issued by the clerk of the city court; or

(2) May seek the assistance of a police officer to witness the violation.

The police officer who witnesses the violation may issue a citation in lieu of arrest
for the violation, or arrest the offender for failure to sign the citation in lieu of arrest.

It shall be unlawful for any person to violate this agreement to appear in court,
regardless of the disposition of the charge for which the ordinance summons was issued.
(Ord. #211, Dec. 1999)




EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

CHAPTER 4

BONDS AND APPEALS

SECTION

3-401. Appearance bonds authorized. 3-

402. Appeals.

3-403. Bond amounts, conditions, and forms.

3-401. Appearance bonds authorized. When the city judge is not available or
when an alleged offender requests and has reasonable grounds for a delay in the trial of his
case, he may, in lieu of remaining in jail pending disposition of his case, be allowed to post
an appearance bond with the city judge or, in the absence of the judge, with the city court
clerk, or in the absence of the city court clerk, with the ranking police officer on duty at
the time, provided such alleged offender is not under the influence of alcohol or drugs.
(1990 Code,

§ 3-401)

3-402. Appeals. Any defendant who is dissatisfied with any judgment of the city
court against him may, within ten (10) days' next after such judgment is rendered, appeal to
the next term of the circuit court upon posting a proper appeal bond. (1990 Code, § 3-
401)

3-403. Bond amounts, conditions, and forms. An appearance bond in any case
before the city court shall be in such amount as the city judge shall prescribe and shall be
conditioned that the defendant shall appear for trial before the city court at the stated time
and place. An appeal bond in any case shall be two hundred and fifty dollars ($250.00),
and shall be conditioned that if the circuit court shall find against the appellant the fine or
penalty and all costs of the trial and appeal shall be promptly paid by the defendant and/or
his sureties. An appearance or appeal bond in any case may be made in the form of a cash
deposit or by any corporate surety company authorized to do business in Tennessee or by
two (2) private persons who individually own real property within the county. No other
type bond shall be acceptable. (1990 Code, § 3-401, modified)

IState law reference
Tennessee Code Annotated, § 16-18-307.




MOUNT CARMEL

%/)/A«e Zo /»n.l‘r/awu saels

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: July 24, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: Wastewater Rate Study Contract with
MTAS

SUMMARY:

On July 17, 2025, the Town appeared on the agenda before the Tennessee Board of Utility
Regulation (TBOUR) based on a referral due to financial distress for the Sewer F und. This
followed a request from TBOUR in early 2025 for the Town to complete a financial distress
questionnaire.

During the July 17 meeting, TBOUR approved an order which requires the Town to
complete a wastewater rate study by a qualified expert, and to have said rate study under
contract by August 31, 2025, and the study completed and implemented or have plans for
implementation by February 15, 2026.

Based on the action of TBOUR, the Town desires to enter into a contract with MTAS
(qualified expert) to complete the rate study in accordance with the guidelines set forth by
the Order.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):

Administration/Finance

FISCAL IMPACT:

Up to $5,000.00 for the MTAS contract. Overall Sewer fiscal impact currently unknown.
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval.

ATTACHMENTS:

TBOUR Staff Recommendation/Order

MTAS Contract for Wastewater Rate Study



435

P,

X
TENNESSEE
COMPTROLLER
OF THETREASURY
Jason E. Mumpower
Comptroller
Entity Referred: Town of Mount Carmel
Referral Reason: Decrease In Net Position
Utility Type Referred: Sewer
Staff Summary:

In 2024, the Town of Mount Carmel (the “Utility”) was referred to the Termessee Board of Utility
Regulation following three consecutive years of a statutory decrease in Net Position within its Sewer
Fund pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 7-82-703. According to the Utility, the primary cause of this
decline was the failure to adjust sewer rates over the past decade.

Since the referral, the Utility has implemented a 35% rate increase and has initiated conversation with a
third party regarding the completion of a rate study.

Staff Recommendation:

The Board should order the following:

1. The Utility shall have a qualified expert as approved by Board staff, perform a rate study that
includes the following:

a. areview of the capitalization policy, including any recommended modifications;

b. areview of the debt management policy, including any recommended modifications;

c. the creation of a five-year capital asset budget, to be taken from the current capital asset list and to
include future anticipated needs;

d. areview of relevant utility fees including but not limited to connection or tap fees, including any
recommended modifications;

e. verification that all governing body members of the utility are in compliance with all relevant
training requirements;

2. By Aug 31, 2025, the Utility shall send Board staff a copy of the contract between the Utility and
the qualified expert who is to perform the tasks in paragraph 1.

3. By Feb 15, 2026, the Utility shall provide Board staff with the completed rate study and either
proof of implementation of the resulting recommendations or a proposed plan of implementation.

4. Board staff is given the authority to grant up to two extensions of up to six months of the foregoing
deadlines upon a showing of good cause by the Utility.

5. Should the Utility fail to comply with any directive in this order, Board staff and Counsel shall
issue subpoenas for the Utility's governing body and/or Manager to appear in-person before the Board
during its next meeting following non-compliance of this order.



LETTER OF AGREEMENT
BETWEEN
THE UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE MUNICIPAL TECHNICAL ADVISORY SERVICE
AND

THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE

This letter of agreement is dated July 25, 2025 (effective date), and is between The
University of Tennessee, on behalf of its Institute of Public Service’s Municipal Technical
Advisory Service, an instrumentality of the state of Tennessee (“MTAS”), and the Town of
Mount Carmel (“Customer”).

WHEREAS, the Customer has determined it to be in the public interest to have the
Customer's municipal water and/orwastewater rate schedule(s) reviewed, with the goal of
establishing rates which will comply with State revenue requirements; and

WHEREAS, MTAS has offered to complete such a review for a reasonable fee.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these facts, the parties hereto agree as
follows:

1. Term: The term of this agreement begins on 7/25/2025 and ends on 2/28/2026.

2. Termination:

a) Unrestricted Right to Terminate: Except as otherwise specified in the invoicing
and payment section below, either party may terminate this agreement,
without cause, by providing the other party with notice at least 30 calendar
days in advance. When providing notice, either party will comply with the
Notice section of this agreement.

b) Termination for Cause: If the Customer fails to perform its obligations under
this agreement in a timely or proper manner, or if Customer materially
breaches any provision of this agreement, MTAS may immediately terminate
this agreement by providing notice to Customer.

c) Amounts Owed: In the event that either party terminates this agreement,
Customer shall pay MTAS for all services provided up until the effective date of
the termination of this agreement.

Pagel1| 6



3. Scope of Work: MTAS to conduct review of the municipal wastewater rates.

MTAS's work under this contract is advisory in nature. Any recommendations MTAS
makes under this contract are non-binding and Customer is free to accept or reject

them.

MTAS shall conduct a detailed review consisting of the following documents

and services:

a)

b)

c)

d)

f)

g)

h)

A narrative and summary of the review with recommendations for setting fair
and equitable rates for customers of the Customer's municipal wastewater
system;

Spreadsheets showing the past two to three municipal audits, current year-to-
date revenues and expenditures, and a 3- to 4-year projection of all
wastewater revenues assuming no adjustment of the Customer’s wastewater
rate schedule;

Spreadsheets with all of the elements of Section (b) above, but with rate
adjustments designed to produce a positive change in the net assets of the
utility within 2 to 3 years;

Cash flow depictions reflecting the results of both spreadsheets;

If the Customer provides MTAS with summarized customer data, MTAS shall
also produce a customer analysiscontrasting each customer class by volumes
used and revenue generated;

Recommended structural changes to existing rate schedules;

A schedule of recommended rates; and

Graphical and/or PowerPoint presentation of findings at a meeting of the
governing body.

4. Fees: MTAS's fee for providing the requested utility review to the Customer shall be
$60.00 per consulting hour, not to exceed $5,000 per year.

5. Information Required by Customer: Customer shall provide MTAS with the

necessary financial and operational information requested by MTAS prior to the

initiation of the review.

6. Follow-Up After Completion Of The Review:

a)

12 months after the Customer has adopted recommendations of the review,
MTAS will provide a brief follow-up on the status review to assure that its
recommendations are achieving the desired revenue results.

Page2 | 6



b)

At the Customer's request, MTAS will communicate its work to the staff of the
Tennessee Board of Utility Regulation (TBOUR) and/or accompany the governing
body representatives to meetings of the Tennessee Board of Utility Regulation.

7. Invoicing and Payment:

a)

b)

d)

Invoices: MTAS will invoice Customer via Email.

Disputes: Customer must notify MTAS of any disputed items on MTAS's invoice
within 10 calendar days of Customer’s receipt of MTAS’s invoice. When
providing notice, either party will comply with the Notice section of this
agreement. If Customer notifies MTAS of disputed items on an invoice within 10
calendar days, Customer and MTAS will work in good faith to resolve the dispute.
If Customer does not notify MTAS of any disputed items on an invoice within 10
calendar days, Customer waives its right to dispute the invoice.

Payment Method: Customer must pay MTAS via check, made payable to The
University of Tennessee.

Payment Time: Customer shall pay MTAS within 30 calendar days of Customer’s
receipt of MTAS’s invoice. If Customer’s payment is more than 45 calendar days
past due, MTAS may suspend its services for Customer, and charge Customer
1.5% interest on late amounts. If Customer is more than 60 calendar days past
due, MTAS may immediately terminate this agreement by providing notice to
Customer. When providing notice, either party will comply with the Notice
section of this agreement.

8. Notice:

a)

b)

For a notice or other communication under this agreement to be valid, it must
be in writing and delivered (1) by hand, (2) by a national transportation
company, with all fees prepaid, (3) by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested and postage prepaid, or (4) by email;

Subject to sub-section (d) below, a valid notice or other communication under
this agreement will be effective when received by the party to which it is
addressed. It will be deemed to have been received as follows:

1. ifitis delivered by hand, delivered by a national transportation
company, with all fees prepaid, or delivered by registered or certified
mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, upon receipt as
indicated by the date on the signed receipt; and

Page3 | 6



2. if the party to which it is addressed rejects or otherwise refuses to

accept it, or if it cannot be delivered because of a change in address
for which no notice was given, then upon that rejection, refusal, or
inability to deliver.

if it is delivered by email, on the next business day after being sent (as
recorded on the device from which the sender sent the email) unless
the sender receives an automated message that the email has not
been delivered. For the purposes of this contract, the parties intend
that the phrase ‘business day’ is defined as Monday through Friday,
excluding federal or MTAS holidays.

c) For a notice or other communication to a party under this agreement to be valid,

Customer:
Town of Mount Carmel
100 East Main Street
Mount Carmel, TN 37645-1421
ATTN: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO
Email: tyler.williams@mountcarmeltn.gov

it must be addressed using the information specified below for that party or any
other information specified by that party in a notice in accordance with this

Municipal Technical Advisory Service
1610 University Avenue, Room 119G
Knoxville, TN 37921
ATTN: Sherri Brown
Email: sherri.brown@tennessee.edu

Legal notices only; do not send invoices to this address:

The University of Tennessee

505 Summer Place- UT Tower #1044
Knoxville, TN 37902

ATTN: Office of Procurement Services
Email: contracts@tennessee.edu

If a notice or other communication addressed to a party is received after
5:00 p.m. on a business day at the location specified in the address for that
party, or on a day that is not a business day, then the notice will be deemed
received at 9:00 a.m. on the next business day.

Page4 | 6



9. Governing Law: The laws of the state of Tennessee, without giving effect to its
principles of conflicts of law, govern this agreement. MTAS’s liability will be governed
by the Tennessee Claims Commission Act.

10. MTAS'’s Liability: Any liability of MTAS to Customer and third parties for any claims,
damages, losses, or costs arising out of or related to acts performed by MTAS under
this agreement will be governed by the Tennessee Claims Commission Act, Tenn. Code
Ann. §§ 9-8-301, et. seq.

11.Self-Insurance: MTAS is self-insured under the Tennessee Claims Commission Act,
Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-301 et seq., which covers certain tort liability for actual
damages of up to $300,000 per claimant and $1,000,000 per occurrence.

12.Modification; Waiver: No amendment of this agreement will be effective unless it is in
writing and signed by authorized officials of the parties. No waiver of satisfaction of a
condition or failure to comply with an obligation under this agreement will be effective
unless it is in writing and signed by an authorized official of the party granting the
waiver, and no such waiver will constitute a waiver of satisfaction of any other
condition or failure to comply with any other obligation.

13.Severability: The parties intend as follows:

a) that if any provision of this agreement is held to be unenforceable, then that
provision will be modified to the minimum extent necessary to make it
enforceable, unless that modification is not permitted by law, in which case
that provision will be disregarded;

b) that if an unenforceable provision is modified or disregarded in accordance
with this section, then the rest of the agreement will remain in effect as
written; and

c) that any unenforceable provision will remain as written in any circumstances
other than those in which the provision is held to be unenforceable.

14. Counterparts: If the parties sign this agreement in several counterparts, each will be
deemed an original, but all counterparts together will constitute one instrument.

15. Entire Agreement: This agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the
parties with respect to the subject matter of this agreement and supersedes all other
agreements, whether written or oral, between the parties.

Page5 | 6



Agreed: The parties are signing this agreement on the effective date listed in the
introductory clause of this agreement.

The University of Tennessee Town of Mount Carmel
Signature: Signature:

Name: Rumira Xhaferaj Name: John K. Gibson
Title: Chief Business Officer Title: Mayor

Page6 | 6



